UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
Before the

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
July 9, 2009

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING
File No. 3-13543

ORDER INSTITUTING ADMINISTRATIVE AND

In the Matter of CEASE-AND-DESIST PROCEEDINGS,
PURSUANT TO SECTION 21C OF THE

ROBERT JOHN HIPPLE, SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
SECTIONS 9(b) AND 9(f) OF THE INVESTMENT

Respondent. COMPANY ACT OF 1940, AND RULE 102(e)(1) OF

THE COMMISSION’S RULES OF PRACTICE

The Securities and Exchange Commission (“Commission”) deems it appropriate that
public administrative and cease-and-desist proceedings be, and hereby are, instituted against
Robert John Hipple (“Respondent” or “Hipple”), pursuant to Section 21C of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”), Sections 9(b) and 9(f) of the Investment Company Act
of 1940 (1“Investment Company Act”), and Rule 102(e)(1)(iii) of the Commission’s Rules of
Practice.

After an investigation, the Division of Enforcement alleges that:

A. Respondent

1. Hipple, age 64, resides in Cocoa, Florida. He is an attorney licensed in Florida
and Georgia. Hipple controlled the management and operations of iWorld Projects and Systems,
Inc.(*iWorld”), a business development company (“BDC”), in early 2005 when it acquired
iWorld Projects & Systems, Inc.(“iWorld Florida™), a private Florida company. At the time,
Hipple was the CEO of iWorld Florida. After the acquisition, Hipple formally became iWorld’s
CEO and remained in that position until he resigned in March 2006. He also acted as iWorld’s
principal financial officer.

! Rule 102(e)(1)(iii) provides, in pertinent part, that:

The Commission may censure a person or deny, temporarily or permanently, the privilege of appearing or
practicing before it in any way to any person who is found by the Commission after notice and opportunity for
hearing in the matter [t]o have willfully violated, or willfully aided and abetted the violation of any provision of the
Federal securities laws or the rules and regulations thereunder.



B. Relevant Entities

2. iWorld is a BDC that, during all relevant periods, was incorporated in Nevada and
headquartered in Addison, Texas. iWorld has not filed a periodic report with the Commission
since it filed its third quarter 2005 Form 10-Q in November 2005. The Nevada Secretary of
State revoked iWorld’s corporate charter on January 1, 2006 for failure to pay franchise taxes.
iWorld filed for voluntary Chapter 7 bankruptcy in May 2008. In March 2009, the bankruptcy
court closed the case because iWorld had no assets. iWorld’s common stock is registered with
the Commission under Section 12(g) of the Exchange Act and is listed for quotation on the Pink
OTC Markets.

3. iWorld Florida was, prior to its acquisition by iWorld, a privately-held Florida
corporation formed by Hipple in May 2004. iWorld Florida was dissolved September 15, 2006.

C. Hipple Postures iWorld Florida
for Acquisition by iworld as BDC

4. Shortly after forming iWorld Florida in May 2004, Hipple caused it to acquire
two small private companies in the project management services industry: Applied Management
Concepts, Inc. (“AMC”) and Process Integrity, Inc. (“P11”) (together, “the subsidiaries™). iWorld
Florida acquired the subsidiaries for a total of $285,000 in working capital payments, $200,000
in assumed liabilities, and 1.1 million shares of iWorld Florida common stock. This stock was
not publicly traded and had no market value.

5. When iWorld Florida acquired the subsidiaries, AMC had no operations, while
P11 had only limited revenues from sales of its only product, a piece of project management
software. Specifically, during the six months before the acquisition, PIl had total revenues of
$89,000 and was not profitable. Hipple knew these facts at the time.

6. Notwithstanding the subsidiaries’ poor performance and negligible operations,
Hipple accepted and adopted the subsidiaries’ financial forecasts. According to those forecasts,
AMC and PI1I would generate $2.4 million in revenue in the six-month period after their
acquisition by iWorld Florida, and would generate in 2005 a total of $5.5 million in revenue.
Hipple had no objective information in his possession to support these forecasts.

7. In December 2004, Hipple initiated and directed a series of transactions to form
iWorld. He first obtained two public, blank-check shell companies, Silesia Enterprises, Inc.
(“Silesia”) and Organic Solutions, Inc. (“Organic”). He then caused Silesia to file a Form N-54
election to become a BDC.

8. Hipple then directed and caused Silesia’s merger into Organic. Among other
things, Hipple caused Organic to issue convertible preferred shares to four of his designees,
including his wife and a college-aged employee of one of his business partners. Hipple oversaw
the conversion of the designee’s preferred shares into common shares — which gave them control
over Organic — and the voting of those shares to approve actions related to merging Organic with
Silesia, with Organic as the surviving corporation. At the conclusion of these transactions,
Hipple effectively controlled the post-merger company (a BDC), which, as part of the merger,



changed its name to iWorld. Hipple thereafter obtained a new CUSIP number and trading
symbol for iWorld’s common shares so they could be publicly traded.

D. Hipple Causes iWorld to Acquire iWorld Florida
and Prepares False Filings Overstating iWorld Florida’s Value

9. On February 25, 2005, iWorld filed a current report on Form 8-K announcing that
it had agreed to acquire iWorld Florida through a merger. The Form 8-K was electronically
signed by Hipple’s partner, David Pells, as iWorld’s president, but Hipple drafted this filing and
caused it to be filed. The Form 8-K stated that the transaction was “valued at $10 million, based
on the number of shares issued, the market price of the shares, and the assets and businesses
acquired.” It then described iWorld Florida and the subsidiaries’ business, concluding that
“combined revenues from [iWorld Florida’s] subsidiaries . . . for 2005 are expected to be in the
range of $25 to $30 million, provided sufficient working capital is obtained.”

10.  The purported $10 million valuation was materially false and misleading. Among
other things, the Form 8-K failed to disclose that Hipple controlled both iWorld and iWorld
Florida at the time of their merger. Consequently, and contrary to the Form 8-K’s description of
the transaction, the merger did not involve arms-length negotiation and was in fact a related-
party transaction. Furthermore, the Form 8-K failed to disclose that, because Hipple controlled
both sides of the transaction, he was able to reverse-engineer the number of shares exchanged
between iWorld and iWorld Florida to lend legitimacy to the $10 million figure. In addition,
there was no disclosure that iWorld Florida’s sole asset — its investments in the subsidiaries — had
been acquired during the summer of 2004 for only $285,000 cash, $200,000 in assumed
liabilities, and 1.1 million shares of iWorld Florida’s non-public stock — consideration that was
worth, at best, only a fraction of $10 million.

11.  The Form 8-K’s representations about the subsidiaries’ prospects were also
materially false and misleading, since they were wholly speculative and unsupported. As noted
above, at the time iWorld Florida acquired them in the summer of 2004, PIl and AMC had
generated meager revenues over the preceding six months. Their performance after their
acquisition by iWorld Florida was no better; indeed, as Hipple knew from internal company
reports he received, PIl and AMC consistently fell far short of their forecasted performance.
Accordingly, Hipple knew or recklessly disregarded that the Form 8-K’s assertions of subsidiary
revenues of $25 million to $30 million were baseless.

E. Hipple Prepares and Certifies iWorld’s False Quarterly Filings

12.  After iWorld acquired iWorld Florida, Hipple became iWorld’s Chairman, CEO
and CFO and performed the company’s accounting and financial reporting functions. In this
capacity, he maintained iWorld’s books and records, was responsible for its system of internal
controls, and drafted and filed with the Commission its periodic reports.

13. In 2005, iWorld filed three quarterly reports on Forms 10-Q: on May 20, 2005,
August 12, 2005 and November 15, 2005. Hipple prepared, signed and certified each of the
filings.



14, Each of these quarterly reports contained financial statements and other
disclosures representing that the subsidiaries (AMC and PI1) — including two additional start-up
operating companies iWorld had acquired — were valued at $10 million. These subsidiaries —
which the quarterly reports referred to as “portfolio companies” — comprised, as reported in the
quarterly reports, approximately 96% of iWorld’s total assets.

15. The reported $10 million valuation was materially false and misleading. As
described above, iWorld’s initial valuation of the subsidiaries at $10 million was itself false and
misleading since it was not the product of arms-length negotiation, was far in excess of what
iWorld Florida had paid to acquire the subsidiaries roughly six months earlier, and was
unsupported by the subsidiaries’ poor financial performance. None of these circumstances had
changed by the time Hipple prepared and filed the quarterly reports. To the contrary, he had
continually received information, including reports from the subsidiaries, demonstrating that
their performance was deteriorating. For instance, by the time iWorld filed the first quarter Form
10-Q on May 20, 2005, Hipple knew from internal reports that all of the subsidiaries had
continued to fall far short of internal projections, with some subsidiaries producing no revenues
whatsoever. He also knew that iWorld’s working capital — which was critical to the subsidiaries’
survival — was rapidly diminishing. From these facts alone (which were not publicly disclosed),
Hipple knew or recklessly disregarded that the subsidiaries’ reported valuation was grossly
overstated.

16. By the time iWorld filed its second quarter Form 10-Q on August 12, 2005,
Hipple knew from internal reports the additional fact that, not only were the subsidiaries far
below their financial projections, they were in fact deeply unprofitable. Indeed, only PII still had
operations by August 2005, due in part to the fact that iWorld had exhausted its working capital,
on which the subsidiaries depended. As iWorld’s CEO and CFO, Hipple knew the subsidiaries
were dependent on iWorld for working capital and that, without working capital, the subsidiaries
would cease operations.

17. By the time iWorld filed its third quarter Form 10-Q on November 15, 2005,
Hipple knew that meaningful subsidiary operations had ceased and that there was no prospect of
iWorld’s reviving them, since iWorld itself had no cash. Moreover, by December 2005, Hipple
learned that P11’s president had previously pledged PII’s sole asset — rights to its software
product — to a third party as security for a loan to PIl to make payroll.

18.  Hipple never revealed the subsidiaries’ dire circumstances in iWorld’s 2005
quarterly filings. To the contrary, each of the filings repeated the $10 million valuation, which
the second and third quarter filings amplified by asserting that “the Company’s Investment
Committee [has] determine[d] that the portfolio investments should be valued at $10 million.”
This was false: iWorld’s investment committee never considered the valuation of the
subsidiaries. Moreover, each of the quarterly filings represented that the subsidiaries were
projected to earn tens of millions of dollars of revenue through the end of 2006. In view of the
circumstances described above — including the subsidiaries’ continuous unprofitability and the
depletion of iWorld’s working capital — these representations were completely unfounded and,
consequently, were materially false and misleading.



19. Even after learning that PI1’s president had pledged PII’s software to secure a
loan to PII, Hipple made no effort to amend iWorld’s third quarter Form 10-Q.

F. Hipple Materially Misleads iWorld’s Auditor

20.  AsaBDC, iWorld was required under Section 2(a)(41) of the Investment
Company Act (which applies to BDCs pursuant to Section 59 of that Act) to determine in good
faith the fair value of the securities of its portfolio companies, since market quotations for those
securities were not readily available. iWorld never made a good faith determination, either when
it acquired iWorld Florida and its subsidiaries, or thereafter. Hipple knew that no such
determination had been made.

21. Hipple, however, told iWorld’s auditor — in connection with the auditor’s review
of iWorld’s first quarter 2005 Form 10-Q — that an “independent investment board” had
approved the $10 million valuation. Hipple knew that this statement was false.

G. Violations
22.  Asaresult of the conduct described above, Hipple willfully violated:

a. Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 thereunder, which
prohibit fraudulent conduct in connection with the purchase or sale of securities;

b. Section 34(b) of the Investment Company Act, made applicable to BDCs
through Section 59 of the Investment Company Act, which provides, among other things, that in
any registration statement, application, report, account, record, or other document filed or
transmitted by iWorld pursuant to the Investment Company Act or kept by iWorld pursuant to
Section 31(a) of the Investment Company Act, it shall be unlawful for any person so filing,
transmitting or keeping any such document to make any untrue statement of material fact or to
omit to state therein any fact necessary in order to prevent the statements made therein, in the
light of the circumstances under which they were made, from being materially misleading;

C. Rule 13a-14 under the Exchange Act, which required Hipple, as iWorld’s
principal executive and financial officer, to certify in each quarterly and annual report filed or
submitted by iWorld under Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act, that: (1) he had reviewed the
report; and (2) based on his knowledge, the report did not contain any untrue statement of
material fact, or omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect
to the period covered by the report;

d. Section 13(b)(5) of the Exchange Act, which provides that no person shall
knowingly falsify any book, record, or account of an issuer that has a class of securities
registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act, or is required to file reports pursuant to
Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act, or knowingly circumvent the registrant’s system of internal
accounting controls;



e. Rule 13b2-1 under the Exchange Act, which provides that no person shall,
directly or indirectly, falsify or cause to be falsified any book, record, or account subject to
Section 13(b)(2)(A) of the Exchange Act;

f. Rule 13b2-2(a) under the Exchange Act, which prohibits an officer or
director of an issuer from, directly or indirectly: (1) making, or causing to be made, a materially
false or misleading statement; or (2) omitting, or causing to be omitted, a statement of a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they were
made, not misleading to an accountant in connection with a required audit, or the preparation or
filing of a required document or report;

g. Section 57(a)(1) of the Investment Company Act, which prohibits persons
“related” to a BDC, as defined in Section 57(b) of the Investment Company Act, from acting as
principal knowingly selling to the BDC any securities in another company unless at least one of
two conditions applies. The first condition is that the sale involves solely securities of which the
buyer is the issuer. See Section 57(a)(1)(A). The second is that the sale involves solely
securities of which the seller is the issuer and which are part of a general offering to the holders
of a class of its securities. See Section 57(a)(1)(B). Section 57(b)(2) defines a “related person
of a BDC,” in pertinent part, as any person directly or indirectly “controlling” a BDC. Section
(2)(a)(9) of the Investment Company Act, in turn, defines “control” as “the power to exercise a
controlling influence over the management or policies of a company.” Hipple controlled iWorld
when he sold, as a principal, his iWorld Florida shares to iWorld in iWorld’s acquisition of
iWorld Florida. Hipple’s sale of his shares did not satisfy either of the two conditions set forth in
Section 57(a)(1)(A) or (B). Thus, Hipple violated Section 57(a)(1);

23.  Asaresult of the conduct described above, Hipple willfully aided and abetted and
caused iWorld’s violations of:

a. Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act and Rules 13a-11, 13a-13, and 12b-20
thereunder, which required iWorld to file information and documents as prescribed by the
Commission, including current and quarterly reports, and to include in those reports any material
information as may be necessary to make the required statements in those reports not misleading
in light of the circumstances under which the statements were made;

b. Section 13(b)(2)(A) of the Exchange Act, which required iWorld, as a
reporting company, to make and keep books, records, and accounts which, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflected its transactions and dispositions of its assets;

C. Section 13(b)(2)(B) of the Exchange Act which required iWorld, as a
reporting company, to devise and maintain a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to
provide reasonable assurances that transactions were recorded as necessary to permit preparation
of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles; and

d. Section 31(a) of the Investment Company Act made applicable to BDCs
by Section 64 of the Investment Company Act, and Rule 31a-1 thereunder, which required
iWorld to make and keep certain books and records, including, among other things, ledgers of all



assets, liabilities, reserve capital, income and expense accounts reflecting account balances on
each day, and corporate documents such as minutes from shareholder and board meetings.

24.  As aresult of the conduct described in Sections I11.A. through 1l. F., above, Hipple
willfully violated, and willfully aided and abetted violations of various provisions of the Federal
securities laws and rules and regulations thereunder, such that the Commission may, after notice
and opportunity for hearing in the matter, pursuant to Rule 102(e)(1)(iii) of the Commission’s
Rules of Practice, censure Hipple, or deny to Hipple, temporarily or permanently, the privilege of
appearing or practicing before it.

In view of the allegations made by the Division of Enforcement, the Commission deems
it necessary and appropriate in the public interest that public administrative and cease-and-desist
proceedings be instituted to determine:

A. Whether the allegations set forth in Section Il. are true and, in connection
therewith, to afford Respondent an opportunity to establish any defenses to such allegations;

B. What, if any, remedial action is appropriate in the public interest against
Respondent pursuant to Section 9(b) of the Investment Company Act including, but not limited
to, civil penalties pursuant to Section 9(d) of the Investment Company Act;

C. Whether, pursuant to Section 21C of the Exchange Act and Section 9(f) of the
Investment Company Act, Respondent should be ordered to cease and desist from committing or
causing violations of and any future violations of Sections 10(b) and 13(b)(5) of the Exchange
Act and Rules 10b-5, 13b2-1, 13b2-2, and 13a-14 thereunder, and Sections 34(b) and 57(a) of
the Investment Company Act, and from causing violations of and any future violations of
Sections 13(a), 13(b)(2)(A) and 13(b)(2)(B) of the Exchange Act and Rules 12b-20, 13a-11, and
13a-13 thereunder and Section 31(a) of the Investment Company Act and Rule 31a-1 thereunder;

D. Whether, pursuant to Section 21C(f) of the Exchange Act, Respondent should be
prohibited from acting as an officer or director of any issuer that has a class of securities
registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act, or that is required to file reports pursuant
to Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act; and

E. Whether, pursuant to Rule 102(e)(1)(iii) of the Commission’s Rules of Practice,
Respondent should be censured, or denied, temporarily or permanently, the privilege of
appearing or practicing before the Commission.

V.
IT IS ORDERED that a public hearing for the purpose of taking evidence on the

questions set forth in Section I11. hereof shall be convened not earlier than 30 days and not later
than 60 days from service of this Order at a time and place to be fixed, and before an



Administrative Law Judge to be designated by further order as provided by Rule 110 of the
Commission's Rules of Practice, 17 C.F.R. § 201.110.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Respondent shall file an Answer to the allegations
contained in this Order within twenty (20) days after service of this Order, as provided by Rule
220 of the Commission's Rules of Practice, 17 C.F.R. § 201.220.

If Respondent fails to file the directed answer, or fails to appear at a hearing after being
duly notified, the Respondent may be deemed in default and the proceedings may be determined
against him upon consideration of this Order, the allegations of which may be deemed to be true
as provided by Rules 155(a), 220(f), 221(f) and 310 of the Commission's Rules of Practice, 17
C.F.R. 88 201.155(a), 201.220(f), 201.221(f) and 201.310.

This Order shall be served forthwith upon Respondent personally or by certified mail.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Administrative Law Judge shall issue an initial
decision no later than 300 days from the date of service of this Order, pursuant to Rule 360(a)(2)
of the Commission’s Rules of Practice.

In the absence of an appropriate waiver, no officer or employee of the Commission
engaged in the performance of investigative or prosecuting functions in this or any factually
related proceeding will be permitted to participate or advise in the decision of this matter, except
as witness or counsel in proceedings held pursuant to notice. Since this proceeding is not “rule
making” within the meaning of Section 551 of the Administrative Procedure Act, it is not
deemed subject to the provisions of Section 553 delaying the effective date of any final
Commission action.

By the Commission.

Elizabeth M. Murphy
Secretary



